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O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges

GREEN Rl VER COAL COMPANY, CONTEST PROCEEDI NG
I NC. ,
CONTESTANT Docket No. KENT 87-167-R
V. Citation No. 2835650; 4/28/87
SECRETARY OF LABOR, No. 9 M ne

M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) ,

RESPONDENT
SECRETARY OF LABOR, CIVIL PENALTY PROCEEDI NG
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON, Docket No. KENT 87-227
PETI TI ONER A.C. No. 15-13469-03612

V.
No. 9 M ne
GREEN Rl VER COAL COMPANY
I NC. ,
RESPONDENT

DECI SI ON

Appear ances: Flem Gordon, Esq., Gordon, Gordon, and Tayl or, Owensboro,
Kentucky for Green River Coal Conpany, Inc.
Mary Sue Ray, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor, U S. Department of
Labor, Nashville, Tennessee for the Secretary of Labor

Bef ore: Judge Melick

These consol i dated cases are before nme under section 105(d)
of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. O
801 et. seq., the "Act," to challenge five citations issued by
the Secretary of Labor against the Green River Coal Conpany, Inc.
(Green River) and for review of civil penalties proposed by the
Secretary for the violations alleged therein

Citation No. 2835668 alleges a "significant and substantial”
violation of the regulatory standard at 30 C.F. R 0O 75.302(b) and
charges that "[a] violation was observed on the No. 7 unit
section ID 007 in that the space between the line brattice and
ribinthe No. 1 entry was not |arge enough to pernmt the flow of
a sufficient volume and velocity of air to keep the working face
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clear of flammable, explosive, and noxi ous gases, dust and
expl osive funes.”

The cited standard requires that "the space between the |ine
brattice or other approved device and the rib shall be |arge
enough to permt the flow of a sufficient volune and velocity of
air to keep the working face clear of flammable, explosive, and
noxi ous gases, dust and expl osives funes.

Citation No. 2835669 alleges a "significant and substantial"
violation of the regulatory standard at 30 C.F.R 0O 75.301 and
charges that "the air current reaching the face of the No. 1
entry on the No. 7 unit 1D 007 was not sufficient to dilute,
render harm ess, gases and dust, and snoke and expl osive funes."

The cited standard provides in relevant part that "al

active workings shall be ventilated by a current of air
containing not less than 19.5 volunme per centum of oxygen, not
nmore than 0.5 vol ume per centum of carbon dioxi de, and no harnfu
gquantities of other noxious or poisonous gases; and the vol une
and velocity of the current of air shall be sufficient to dilute,
render harm ess, and to carry away, flammuable, explosive, noxious
and harnful gases and dust and snoke and expl osive funes." The
standard al so requires that "the m nimum quantity of air in any
coal mine reaching each working face shall be 3,000 cubic feet a
m nute."

The essential facts supporting the cited violations are not
in dispute. Ronald Ogl esby, an inspector for the Federal M ne
Saf ety and Health Admi nistration (MSHA), reported to the G een
River No. 9 mine on April 7, 1987, at about 7:15 a.m to
investigate an alleged ignition and mine fire. After interview ng
enpl oyees outside the m ne Ogl esby proceeded underground to the
scene of the accident. Arriving on the No. 7 Unit at the No. 1
Entry Ogl esby observed "slack coal" piled to within 18 inches of
the m ne roof in the space between the brattice and rib. He al so
found that the right tire of the cutting machine in the No. 1
Entry was pushed into the line curtain thereby further
restricting the flow of air. (See Secretary's Exhibit No. 2).

gl esby then recreated conditions as they reportedly existed
at the tine of the accident by renmoving an extension to the
brattice curtain. Under these conditions Ogl esby was unable to
detect any novenment of air upon testing with a calibrated
anenoneter. Even with the added curtain replaced Ogl esby detected
only 1,260 cubic feet of air per mnute (CF.M) 4 feet inby the
end of the line curtain. Near the right tire of the cutting
machi ne where the curtain was pushed over he still found only
1,600 C.F.M Once the slack coal had been renoved and the



~404

curtain again extended Ogl esby found legally sufficient air
ventilating the face of the No. 1 Entry i.e. at l|east 3000 C.F. M
Wthin this framework of undi sputed evidence both violations are
clearly proven as charged.

I nspector Ogl esby al so considered the violations to be quite
serious and "significant and substantial". Based on his
interviews with Dwayne O dham the unit cutter operator, and
Kat hy Lambert, the shot fireman, Ogl esby opined that the m ne
fire on the No. 7 unit earlier that day had been caused by a
nmet hane ignition further igniting hydraulic oil |eaking fromthe
cutting machine. O dhamreportedly told Ogl esby that a sudden
flash cane over the cutting machi ne as he was beginning to cut.
Kat hy Lanmbert had al so seen an orange flame on the back side of
the curtain. The fire was |ocated below the cutter bar at a
| ocati on O dham could not see fromthe operator's conpartnent.
The fire had been extinguished with no injuries or property
damage.

Green River Safety Director Grover Fischbeck was "hesitant
to believe" that there had been a methane ignition, favoring the
view that the hydraulic oil had been ignited directly by sparks
fromthe cutting bar striking rock. However, regardless of the
source of the fire it would be reasonably likely to expect, in
the absence of adequate ventilation in a working section of a
m ne havi ng an undi sputed history of nmethane ignitions and recent
overall methane liberation of 1.9 million cubic feet in 24 hours,
that methane ignitions would occur. Indeed it is undisputed that
the cutter machine had earlier on the shift twi ce "gassed-out"”
because of excess nethane i.e. the nmethane detector on the
equi pment automatically shut the machi ne down because of high
| evel s of methane. Under the circunstances it is reasonably
likely that a nethane ignition would occur with resulting serious
burn injuries and fatalities. The violations were accordingly
serious and "significant and substantial". Secretary v. Mathies
Coal Conpany, 6 FMSHRC 1 (1984).

| also find that the violations were the result of operator
negligence. There is no dispute that face boss Robert Sandi dge
was on the unit at the time of the accident. Sandi dge al so
testified that there was adequate ventilation at the No. 1 Face
at the tinme of his preshift exam nation (which conmenced at 5:50
a.m on April 7) and that he found only .4 percent nethane 30
m nutes before the cutting machi ne entered the No. 1 Entry.
However the fact that the cutting nmachine had twi ce before the
acci dent "gassed-out" because of excess methane shoul d have
pl aced Sandi dge on notice of a nethane problemrequiring
extraordi nary care in maintaining adequate ventilation. Mreover
the m ne operator was al ready under a higher duty of care because
of the history of nethane ignitions at this mne and because of
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the overall high liberation of methane. The recent history of
simlar violations in this mne for inadequate ventilation and
the failure to maintain adequate brattice curtains constitute
patterns that may al so be considered in finding operator
negligence in this case.

Citation No. 2837677 alleges a "significant and substantial"
violation of the operator's ventilation system nethane and dust
control plan under the standard at 30 C.F. R 0O 75.316. More
particularly Geen River is charged with failing to have "the
back-up curtain between No. 6 and 7 entry ... in place." It
is not disputed that there was indeed no back-up curtain in
position between the No. 6 and 7 entries as alleged and that such
a curtain was required by the operator's ventilation plan
(Secretary's Exhibit No. 6 page 4). The violation is accordingly
proven as charged. It is also undisputed that the absence of this
back-up curtain woul d have reduced the ventilation on the working
sections. Considering the history of nmethane |iberation,
ignitions, and recent violations of ventilation requirenents it
is apparent that this violation also was serious and "significant
and substantial". Mathies Coal Conpany, Supra.

In eval uating operator negligence | have given considerabl e
wei ght to the credible testinmny of Face Boss Robert Sandi dge
that the backup curtain was in position at the tinme of his
preshi ft exam nation at 5:50 that norning. In addition | accept
the testinmony of Safety Director David Harper that a check
curtain of the proper size was lying on the ground in an open
position bel ow where it should have been hung. | neverthel ess
find that the operator was negligent because a hi gh degree of
care was required in this section. There was a history of high
nmet hane concentrations and the nethane detector on the cutter
machi ne had al ready "gassed-out" the machine tw ce before on sane
shift. Under the circunstances nanagenent was on notice that
nmet hane | evel s were aproachi ng dangerous concentrations and it
t herefore should have been on particular notice to maintain its
check curtains to maintain adequate ventil ation

Citation No. 2837678 al so charges a violation of the
ventilation plan under the standard at 30 C F. R 0O 75.316 in that
"a permanent stopping had not been constructed in the third open
crosscut fromthe face in the stopping line."

It is not disputed that a pernanent stopping had not been
constructed in the third open crosscut fromthe face in the
stopping line. Green River maintains however that a permanent
st oppi ng was not required and that in any event the back-up
curtain being used was adequate. \Whether there was a violation in
this instance depends on the applicable definition of "open
crosscut". According to Inspector Newin the definition of "open
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crosscut” that had been uniformy applied to Green River on prior
occasi ons included a crosscut where air could pass through or a
crosscut that was clean and travel able (i.e. supported).
According to Safety Director David Harper the cited area was not
an "open crosscut" because it had not been conpletely bolted and
cl eaned.

I find that the definition adopted by Green River is the
nore persuasive. It nmeets the "reasonably prudent person"
standard. Al abama ByAProducts, 4 FMSHRC 2128 (1982); United
States Steel Corp., 5 FMSHRC3 (1983). Inspector New in
acknow edged that his definition was not accepted by sonme ot her
i nspectors and it is undisputed that MSHA approved a nodification
to the ventilation plan shortly after this citation which all owed
a check curtain to be used in the cited crosscut instead of a
per manent stopping. MSHA thus, in effect, acknow edged that there
was no hazard in Green River's prior practice of utilizing a
check curtain instead of a pernmanent stopping in the third open
crosscut fromthe face. Under these circunstances it cannot be
said that a reasonably prudent person, famliar with the facts,
woul d have recogni zed a hazard in the practice here foll owed by
Green River. Accordingly there was no violation and the citation
must be vacat ed.

Citation No. 2835650, issued under section 104(d)(1) of the
Act, alleges a violation of the standard at 30 C.F. R 0O 75.301
and charges as follows: (Footnote 1)

The quantity of air reaching the end of the line
curtain in the No. 2 Entry on 7 Unit was 1,320 cfm CH
4.7. The | oader was | oading coal in this entry.
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As previously noted, the standard at 30 C.F. R O 75.301 provides
that "the mininmum quantity of air in any coal mnine reaching each
wor ki ng face shall be 3,000 cubic feet a mnute.” It is
undi sputed that there was only 1,320 CF.M of air at the end of
the line curtain in the No. 2 Entry on the No. 7 Unit. |ndeed,
Green River now admits the violation, does not deny that it was
"significant and substantial" and challenges only the
"unwarrant able failure" findings.

The Secretary maintains that the violation was due to the
"unwarrantable failure" of the operator to conply with the
standard because "of the history of ventilation problems at this
m ne, and the apparent |ack of concern by the operator while
[I nspector Newlin] was on the unit”". Newlin had found severa
ot her violations for inadequate ventilation shortly before
di scovering the instant violation (see Secretary's Exhibits Nos.
9 and 10). Indeed Newlin observed that 15 to 20 m nutes had
el apsed while the operator abated a prior citation (No. 2835649)
and before he had noved on to discover the instant violation
During this time mners were continuing to |load coal. Newin al so
observed that it took only six mnutes to inprove the ventilation
and to abate the instant violation.

It was apparently Newin's position that Green River should
have, upon the issuance of Citation No. 2835649 for deficient
ventilation in the No. 1 Entry, not only abated that violation
but al so stopped all mning activity on the unit and checked the
No. 2 Entry for sufficient ventilation. Newin acknow edges
however that after observing the abatenent of the violation in
the No. 1 Entry and as he proceeded to the No. 2 Entry he in fact
did see two or three mners working to inprove the ventilation
affecting the No. 2 Entry even before he cited inadequate
ventilation in the No. 2 Entry. In light of this evidence that
Green River had comrenced abatement even before the violation was
cited I cannot find that the violation was the result of
i nexcusabl e aggravat ed conduct constituting nore than ordinary
negl i gence. Enery M ning Conpany v. Secretary 9 FMSHRC 1997,
(1987). The violation was therefore not the result of
"unwarrantable failure"” and the 104(d)(1) citation nust be
nmodi fied to a citation under Section 104(a) of the Act. In light
of the recent history of ventilation violations on this unit and
the presence of high levels of nethane | do find however that
Green River was negligent. Under these circunstances it was under
a heightened duty of care to maintain proper ventilation.

In determ ning appropriate civil penalties in this case
have al so considered that the operator is of noderate size, has a
noderate history of violations and abated the violative
conditions cited herein as prescribed by the Secretary.
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ORDER

Green River Coal Conpany, Inc. is directed to pay the
following civil penalties within 30 days of the date of this
decision: Citation No. 2835668 - $600, Citation No. 2835669 - $750,
Citation No. 2837677 - $600, Citation No. 2837678 - (vacated),
Citation No. 2835650 - $400. Contest Proceedi ng Docket No. KENT
87A167AR is granted to the extent that Citation No. 2835650 is
nodi fied to a citation under section 104(a) of the Act.

Gary Melick
Adm ni strative Law Judge
(703) 756A6261

Footnote starts here: -

~Foot not e_one
1 Section 104(d)(1) reads in part as follows:

I f, upon any inspection of a coal or other mne, an
aut hori zed representative of the Secretary finds that there has
been a violation of any mandatory health or safety standard, and
if he also finds that, while the conditions created by such
vi ol ation do not cause iminent danger, such violation is of such
nature as could significantly and substantially contribute to the
cause and effect of a coal or other nine safety or health hazard,
and if he finds such violation to be caused by an unwarrantabl e
failure of such operator to conply with such mandatory health or
saf ety standards, he shall include such finding in any citation
given to the operator under this Act.



